1940

Romney v. Covey Garage et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff, E. L. Romney, about April 30, 1938, on a Saturday evening left his automobile at the defendant garage in Salt Lake City for storage over night. The automobile was delivered to the garage sometime between ten and eleven o'clock p. m. and plaintiff thereafter retired to the Newhouse Hotel, just north of the garage. As is customarily done, the keys were left in the automobile; the attendants in charge, at plaintiff's request, filled the automobile with gasoline and parked it in the

garage in the usual manner. Shortly thereafter, about eleven o'clock p. m., the three attendants, all at the front of the garage entrance, observed defendant's automobile coming out, being driven by a thief. Immediately one of defendant's employees of the garage got into his car, took after the refugees, chasing them for some twenty blocks, all up through the east part of town and then back down somewhere near the scene of the collision between plaintiff's automobile, then discovered to be driven by one Albert Freeman and his notorious companion, Brady Wayne Poulson, and another car, resulting in the crash causing the damage to plaintiff's car sought to be recovered in this action. How, or by what means or methods Freeman and his companion succeeded in getting into the garage is wholly unexplained and nowhere appears in the evidence, and the evidence is undisputed that the defendant's garage was maintained and operated in accordance with the usual practice and standard of similar garages and was so operated on the evening of the theft, the usual number of employees being maintained to care for the storage.

Plaintiff's complaint, (Ab. 2) sought to hold the defendant liable for negligence, alleging in addition that said automobile was stolen from the garage by said Albert Freeman and Brady Wayne Poulson. Defendant demurred (Ab. 4), both generally and specially to said complaint, primarily upon the ground (1) That in alleging the theft, plaintiff explained the loss and, there-

fore, failed to state a cause of action, and (2) That such complaint was indefinite and uncertain in that it nowhere appeared how or in what manner defendant was careless and negligent and the acts of negligence were not set forth so as to advise defendant of the nature of the negligence relied upon by plaintiff. The demurrer was overruled, (Ab. 5) and defendant was required to answer. Defendant answered (Ab. 6), admitted the bailment and the theft, but denied any negligence and further affirmatively alleged payment of the loss and damage to the plaintiff by the American Equitable Assurance Company and its right of subrogation by reason of such payment. An order was made by the court requiring the said American Equitable Assurance Company to appear and set forth its rights and claims, which order, together with a copy of defendant's answer was served on said American Equitable Assurance Company. (Ab. 10). It was stipulated at the trial, subject to plaintiff's objection of immateriality that said American Equitable Assurance Company paid Mr. Romney, the plaintiff, the amount of his loss under the policy. (Ab. 11). The case was tried to the court sitting without a jury, plaintiff's evidence was offered and received, (Ab. 10-33) at the conclusion of which defendant moved for a judgment of non-suit and dismissal, and said motion was taken under advisement on the 19th day of April, 1939, (Tr. 18) and denied on the 15th day of June, 1939, (Tr. 19A). Defendant's evidence was offered and received (Ab. 34-37): said cause was orally argued to

the court, which took the same under advisement until November 14, 1939, when a decision was entered in favor of plaintiff and against defendant. Thereafter, plaintiff made application to amend the prayer of his complaint to ask for the allowance of interest, which amendment was allowed, over defendant's objection (Ab. 38), and on the 29th day of December, 1939, over defendant's objection, plaintiff's proposed findings of fact (Ab. 41) and conclusions of law (Ab. 43) and judgment (Ab. 44) were signed by the court.

ERRORS RELIED UPON

The errors relied upon by appellant may be classified and discussed under the following groups:

1. Errors in overruling defendant's general and special demurrer and proceeding with plaintiff's evidence over the objections of defendant, based on the insufficiency of plaintiff's complaint. (Assignments of Error 1, 2, and 4)
2. Insufficiency of the evidence to create liability against the defendant. (Assignments of Error 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19)
3. Errors in rulings on the admissibility of evidence. (Assignments of Error 3, 5, 6, and 7)
4. Error in finding and concluding that the American Equitable Assurance Company had no interest in the action. (Assignments of Error 13 and 14)

5. Error in permitting plaintiff to amend his complaint after trial and decision of the court. (Assignment of Error 12)

1. PLEADINGS

The law is well settled that a garage such as defendant maintained in this action in the absence of specific agreement is not an insurer of automobiles that are left there for storage, and there is no liability for damage or loss suffered on the part of the bailor, unless such damage was proximately caused by *some act of negligence* attributable to the defendant.

Homan v. Burkhart, (Cal.) 291 Pac. 624:

“It is a well-settled principle of law in this state that a bailee for hire is not an insurer. * * * Bailee for hire is liable only when he has been guilty of some negligence. He is chargeable only with ordinary care and diligence in safeguarding his bailor’s property.”

The instant case was brought and tried upon the theory of negligence, and it is submitted that plaintiff’s complaint was insufficient in that it alleged “carelessness and negligence” generally and wholly failed to allege any specific act or failure on the part of defendant or set forth how or in what manner defendant was careless and negligent, and defendant’s special demurrer based on such grounds should have been sustained.

Under our statutes, a special demurrer for uncertainty performs the function of a motion to make a pleading more definite and certain, and Section 104-7-2, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933 like that in several western code states provides:

“The complaint must contain: * * *

“(2) A statement of the facts constituting the cause of action in ordinary and concise language.”

The purpose of this provision is that the adverse party may be entitled to know in what particular plaintiff claims the defendant is at fault and to enable him to properly prepare his defense. Plaintiff's allegation of carelessness and negligence was most certainly subject to plaintiff's special demurrer.

Clearly there is much more reason for the sustaining of defendant's special demurrer on the grounds of uncertainty in the instant case, than existed in the case of *Pennock v. Newhouse Realty Company*, (Utah) 93 Pac. (2d) 482, where uncertainty in plaintiff's complaint existed more as to how any acts of negligence alleged were the proximate cause of the accident than the failure to allege specific acts of negligence. In the instant case, although plaintiff claims negligence, no specific act of negligence is alleged. Justice Pratt at page 484 of the *Pennock* case says:

7

"The defendant is entitled to know what plaintiff has in mind. A defense to an incident of carelessness of an employee may be entirely different from a defense to a failure to afford protection against a dangerous condition of the premises."

And Judge Larson on page 486 states:

"The mere characterization of an act as 'careless' or 'negligence' is not an allegation of fact, but merely the pleader's characterization or description of an act."

And in the instant case, plaintiff's complaint was insufficient in that it alleged no act of negligence on the part of defendant. 4 *Bancroft Code Pleading*, page 3543, Sec. 2041:

"It is not sufficient, at least as against a demurrer or motion, to allege merely in general terms that an injury was caused by the negligence of the defendant."

2 *Bancroft Code Pleading Practice and Remedies, Supp.*, Sec. 2041, page 961:

"The facts must be stated directly, so that the defendant may understand the specific acts of remissness with which he is charged."

Pullen v. City of Butte (Mont.) 99 Pac. 290:

"The only allegation in the complaint which seeks to charge the defendant city with negligence

is the following: 'That the said defendant * * * willfully, negligently, carelessly, and wrongfully caused the public sidewalk on the west side of Idaho street, between Galena and Mercury streets, * * * to be placed in, and willfully, carelessly, wrongfully, knowingly, and negligently permitted the same to remain in, an unsafe, dangerous, and defective condition.' At the close of plaintiff's case, the defendant moved for a nonsuit, specifying, among other grounds, that the complaint does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.

"'Our Code (1 Hill's Ann. Laws 1887) Sec. 66, requires the complaint to contain a plain and concise statement of the facts constituting the plaintiff's cause of action; and one of the great objects to be attained by this enactment was to compel the plaintiff to place upon the record the specific and particular facts which he claims entitle him to recover. The field of inquiry is thus narrowed, and the defendant is enabled to come into court advised beforehand of the particular facts he must come prepared to contest.'

"In our opinion the allegation that the city negligently placed the sidewalk in an unsafe, dangerous, and defective condition and permitted it to remain in such condition is but the statement of the bare legal conclusion of the pleader, and did not state facts sufficient to show negligence on the part of the city. The judgment and order are reversed, and the cause is remanded for a new trial."

Price v. Atchison Water Co., (Kan.) 50 Pac. 450:

"The defendant in error made its plea of contributory negligence in the following language: 'Further answering, defendant alleges that, if the plaintiffs have suffered any damage whatever, it is through and by reason of their own negligence in the premises, and that of said Melrose H. Price.' The case did not progress far enough to require evidence under this plea. Had it done so, the plaintiffs would have been uninformed as to the facts constituting the claim of negligence upon the part either of themselves or of the deceased boy. A motion by plaintiffs in error to require this answer to be made more definite and certain was made and overruled. It should have been sustained. The rule is the same in the case of an answer as it is in the case of a petition charging negligence. As to the latter it has been held: 'If a petition contains but a general allegation of negligence, it is subject to a motion requiring it to be made more definite and certain, and it is error for the court to overrule a proper motion presented for that purpose.' *Railway Co. v. O'Neill*, 49 Kan. 367, 30 Pac. 470. The case is reversed, with instructions to sustain the motion to make the answer more definite and certain, and to award a new trial. All the justices concurring."

In *Atchison, T. & S. F. R. Co. v. O'Neill*, (Kan.) 30 Pac. 470, a failure to sustain a motion to make more definite and certain was reversible error where negligence was alleged in general terms, and it did not appear which one, if any, of the servants of defendant was negligent, nor what acts or omissions constituted the negligence complained of. The court said:

"It had a right to know, not only which of its agents was chargeable with negligence, but also what acts or omissions of such servant or servants constituted the negligence complained of, so that its defense could be intelligently prepared, with respect thereto. * * * We think the petition too general, indefinite, and uncertain as to which of the company's agents or servants it imputes negligence, as to what acts or omissions constitute the negligence complained of, as well as to what proper rules for the conduct of trains the company violated in connection with the injury. The petition was therefore subject to a motion to make it more definite and certain. The motion was made at a proper time. It clearly pointed out the defects of the petition, and fully and definitely showed in what manner it should be corrected. We are of the opinion, therefore, that the refusal of the court to require the plaintiff below to correct his petition was prejudicial error."

Simons v. Pacific Gas & Electric Company, (Cal.) 220 Pac. 425:

"It should appear in what respects the defendant was negligent, and that such negligence had a causal connection with plaintiff's injury."

In *Colonial Refining Co. v. Lathrop*, (Okla.) 166 Pac. 747, it was held not error to refuse to instruct the jury on the issue of contributory negligence where defendant in attempting to plead contributory negligence, simply alleged that "such injuries claimed to have been

sustained by plaintiff were caused solely and only by negligence, carelessness and want of care of plaintiff herein," the court saying:

"Defendant should be required also to apprise the plaintiff of any special or affirmative defense he expects to make by pleading the facts constituting such defense. * * * Contributory negligence, to be available to the defendant, must be specifically pleaded."

In *King v. Oregon Short-Line Ry. Co.*, (Idaho) 55 Pac. 665, plaintiff's complaint alleged "that the defendant, by its agents and servants, not regarding its duty in that respect, so carelessly and negligently ran and managed its locomotives and cars that the same ran against, upon, and over said steer." It was held that defendant's demurrer on the grounds of 'uncertainty should have been sustained, the court saying:

"Plaintiff must show acts or omissions from which negligence will be inferred before he can recover, it certainly is no hardship on him, nor unreasonable, to require him to allege them. Subdivision 2, Sec. 4168, Rev. St., provides that the complaint must contain 'a statement of the facts constituting the cause of action in ordinary and concise language.' * * * But our Code of Civil Procedure has greatly changed the common-law rules of pleading, and requires the facts constituting the cause of action to be set forth in ordinary and concise language. And in the case at bar facts sufficient should have been set forth to inform the defendant what act or omission con-

stituted the negligence complained of. The judgment of the court below is reversed, with instructions to sustain the demurrer."

In *Osborn v. Carey*, (Ida.) 132 Pac. 967, a special demurrer to the complaint, which was based on negligent diagnosis or treatment of a patient by a doctor, should have been sustained when such complaint did not allege wherein the treatment rendered was wrong and there was nothing to show that the treatment rendered was not proper from the standpoint of the concensus of opinion and usual practice among physicians and surgeons of ordinary skill and learning in the profession in the locality wherein defendant practiced.

The same rule is applied where one relies on fraud, the pleaders in such cases being required to state the facts upon which they claim the fraud to be based, so that the party charged may know the nature of the claim and be prepared to meet it. *Muldoon v. Brown*, 21 Utah 121, 59 Pac. 720; *Wilson v. Sullivan*, 17 Utah 341, 53 Pac. 994.

2. INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Neither plaintiff's evidence, the whole evidence, nor the findings of the court discloses (1) *any particular act of negligence on the part of the defendant*, nor (2) *any particular act of negligence on the part of defendant to which can legally be attributed the proximate cause of the damage to plaintiff's car*. On the other hand, the

undisputed evidence produced on behalf of both parties is that the automobile was stolen from defendant's garage, and that before the fugitives could be overtaken the car was destroyed.

Plaintiff's Evidence

In attempting to prove negligence, plaintiff called four witnesses, C. B. Squires, plaintiff, and two attendants of the garage, Remington and Jones.

C. B. Squires simply testified that he stored his automobile with the defendant garage sometime in February, 1938; that the next morning the garage failed to deliver to him his car (Ab. 15); that he was told the car had been stolen (Ab. 17); that the car was afterwards recovered (Ab. 18). On cross examination he testified he had no personal knowledge as to how the automobile was stolen or how the thieves got into the garage or anything of that nature. (Ab. 18). We will hereafter discuss why certain objections to the testimony of Squires should have been sustained. Suffice it to say here that such testimony tended to prove nothing material and was wholly collateral to any issue in the case. There was no showing of similarity between such theft and the one in the instant case, nothing showing whether the Squires car was stolen in the daytime or at night, whether it was stolen by an employee or a stranger, did not show or disclose any negligence of defendant either in the selection of its employees or failure to afford pro-

tection against a dangerous condition of the premises, did not show a condition which the defendant might or should have remedied in any way, did not indicate any course of conduct or a neglect to remedy any condition, or any negligence of any employee which would have any bearing or relationship to a subsequent theft of an automobile.

Plaintiff testified (Ab. 19-21) to the delivery of his car to the garage between ten and eleven o'clock P.M. and about forty-five minutes after the lights of the city were off and the obtaining of the usual claim check; that the pedestrian traffic on the sidewalk in front of the garage at the time was heavy; that a number of people were parking their cars in the garage and going to the dance nearby; that as usual he left his keys in the car and one of the attendants parked it in the garage; that not long after he retired to the hotel, it was reported his car had been stolen. On cross examination, plaintiff testified he knew that garages, both in and out of this state storing automobiles required the keys to be left in the car, and that he had stored his car at the defendant garage in the same manner for a number of years.

Plaintiff then called Steel Remington and Kenneth Jones, attendants in the employ of defendant at the garage the night of the theft. These witnesses testified to the description of the garage, the manner of operation of the garage, and what took place on that particular

night. It was stipulated the testimony of Kenneth Jones would be the same as that of Steel Remington. The latter testified that they did not have "the slightest idea how Freeman and whoever was with him got inside the garage that night." They had "all been wondering and speculating as to how he got in," and the testimony of Remington showed no specific act of negligence or conduct on the part of defendant which it could be said caused plaintiff's loss. Remington testified (Ab. 22-31) to the fact that Kenneth Jones, Ben Baxter and he were all on duty the evening of the theft, and that their duties were receiving, parking, and delivering cars and servicing automobiles, including the selling of gas and oil, and also operating an automobile laundry, but that the laundry closed at six o'clock in the evening. That the garage itself was open day and night. That it was very quiet and they were not busy between 10:30 and 12:00 that evening. That there are only two doors opening from the service platform in front of the garage into the storage portion of the garage. That these two openings appear on the right hand side, looking at the picture, Plaintiff's Exhibit "A", the entrance being the opening next to the office and the exit appearing to be about one-third of the way from the left side of the picture. That to the left of the exit door, looking at the picture, is the opening to the wash rack, and the opening that appears on the extreme left hand side of the picture is just a little room that is always kept locked, and no one ever goes in it, and it is not used as an exit or an

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