1940

Romney v. Covey Garage et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

In *Goodyear Tire and Rubber Co. v. Altmont Springs Hotel Co.*, 267 S. W. 555, the Court of Appeals of Kentucky held:

“We think these facts developed a prima facie case of negligence against defendant, and that the burden was upon it to show the requisite care on its part to excuse it from liability.”

The evidence showed the storage of the automobile in defendant's garage and its disappearance therefrom during the night. The keys to the garage were in the possession of defendant and it permitted its servants, as well as other boarders, lodgers and guests, to use those keys. In the case at bar the defendant permitted the man who took care of the government mail trucks to have keys to the north rear door of the garage. The above case is followed in *Blackburn v. Depoyster*, 272 S. W. 398, decided by the same court and in *Spare v. Belroy Housing Corporation*, 38 Pac. 2d 207, decided by the Supreme Court of Washington. See *Hutchins v.*

Taylor Buick Co., 153 S. E. 397; *Employers Fire Ins. Co. v. Consolidated Garage*, 155 N. E. 533; *Farrell Calhoun Co. v. Union Chevrolet Co.*, 113 S. W. 2d 419.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY OVERRULED DEFENDANT'S
GENERAL AND SPECIAL DEMURRERS TO PLAINTIFF'S
COMPLAINT.

Defendant's special demurrer was directed to the sound discretion of the court. Obviously the manner in which the thief entered defendant's garage was not known by the plaintiff. The plaintiff is not required to plead the evidence by which he establishes the ultimate fact of negligence.

Plaintiff's complaint alleged:

“That the defendant negligently and carelessly failed to safely and securely keep said automobile but carelessly and negligently permitted the same to be taken and stolen from said garage by Albert Freeman and Brady Wayne Poulson without the consent or authority or permission of the plaintiff or any one acting on his behalf.”

The garage and the car were in defendant's possession. Its employees on duty at the time the car was stolen testified “I haven't the slightest idea how Freeman and whoever was with him got inside the garage that night. We have all been wondering and speculating as to how he got in.” An argument that the plaintiff

must allege and prove the specific manner in which the thief got into defendant's garage when the defendant itself, in possession of the garage, asserts it does not know, defeats itself. All available facts were within the knowledge and possession of the defendant.

The trial court's ruling on the special demurrer will not be reversed on appeal where, as here, the ruling did not constitute an abuse of discretion and did not affect the substantial rights of the adverse party.

The Utah statute provides:

"104-13-1. Pleadings to be Liberally Construed. In the construction of a pleading, for the purpose of determining its effect, its allegations must be liberally construed with a view to substantial justice between the parties."

"104-14-7. Only Prejudicial Errors and Defects To Be Regarded. The court must in every stage of an action disregard any error or defect in the pleadings or proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties, and no judgment shall be reversed or affected by reason of such error or defect."

"104-39-3. Prejudice Must Be Shown. No exception shall be regarded, unless the decision excepted to is material and prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party excepting."

In support of our position that the trial court did not err in overruling defendant's general demurrer we

quote from *Mangum v. Bullion, Etc., Mining Co.*, 15 U. 534:

“Under our system, the allegations of a pleading, for the purpose of determining its effect, must be liberally construed, with a view to substantial justice between the parties. Comp. Laws Utah 1888, Sec. 3238. Nor can the objection to the complaint that the allegations respecting the defective machinery and its negligent operation were in general terms avail the appellant. While these allegations do not refer specifically to the particular parts of the machinery which were defective, or specify with exactness wherein the machinery was operated carelessly, still we are of the opinion that they would have been sufficient to resist a general demurrer before trial, if one had been interposed, and hence are sufficient to resist the attack that the complaint did not state a cause of action, made after verdict and judgment. * * * Moreover, it does not appear that the plaintiff had such exact knowledge of the machinery and its operation as would enable him to state just what particular parts were defective, or just wherein its operation was negligent. The general facts he could know, but the particular facts were more likely to be within the knowledge of the defendant, because of its duty to inspect the machinery and keep it in repair. In such case less particularity in stating the specific facts, or the acts or omissions which constitute negligence, is required. The complainant may know only the immediate cause of the injury, and may be unable to state the precise acts or things which caused it. If, therefore, the facts alleged show such an occurrence as is

usually the sequence of carelessness or negligence, it is incumbent upon the opposite party to explain it, and show the exercise of proper care; and the court in such case will not say, as matter of law, that the complaint does not state a cause of action on the ground of negligence."

And in *Eddington v. Cement Co.*, 42 U. 274, 130 Pac. 243, the court said:

"Unless it is clear that the complaint fails to state some essential element necessary to a cause of action, or that some facts are stated by reason of which the plaintiff cannot recover because of some act of his own, which prevents a recovery, a general demurrer should always be overruled. Under our statute (Comp. Laws 1907, sec. 2986) doubts, if any arise, upon the allegations in the pleadings are not necessarily resolved against the pleader; but the pleading, as provided in that section, 'must be liberally construed.' No reason is perceived why appellant cannot prove a *prima facie* case under the allegations of his complaint."

In *Roster v. Inter-State Power Co.*, 237 N. W. 738, the Supreme Court of North Dakota held:

"It is the settled rule that negligence may be set forth in general terms, where the specific facts are more largely within the knowledge of the defendant. 8 R. C. L. 812; Bliss on Code Pleading Sec. 310a; *New York, C. & St. L. Ry. Co. v. Callahan*, 40 Ind. App. 223, 81 N. E. 670; *Stolle v. Anheuser-Busch*, 307 Mo. 520, 271 S. W. 497, 39 A. L. R. 1001;

Tietke v. Forrest, 64 Cal. App. 364, 221 P. 681."

In *Schaff v. Coyle*, 249 Pac. 947, the supreme Court of Oklahoma held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling defendant's motion to make plaintiff's petition more definite and certain:

"For reversal, it is first insisted that the trial court erred in overruling defendant's motion to require the plaintiffs to make their petition more definite and certain. Motions to make more definite and certain are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and where, as in this case, the information sought to be obtained thereby is within the knowledge of the defendant, and can be obtained from records, train sheets, switch lists, reports, and other documentary evidence, kept by the defendant, showing the movement of its various trains and engines, this court cannot say that the trial court abused its discretion in overruling such action. *City of Lawton v. Hills*, 53 Okla. 243, 153 P. 297; *Ft. Smith & Western Ry. Co. v. Ketis*, 26 Okla. 696, 110 P. 661; *Landon v. Morehead*, 34 Okla. 701, 126 P. 1027; *City of Chickasha v. Looney*, 36 Okla. 155, 129 P. 136; *Frey v. Failes*, 37 Okla. 297, 132 P. 342."

III.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE AMERICAN
EQUITABLE ASSURANCE COMPANY HAD NO CLAIM
AGAINST COVEY GARAGE.

At page 44 of appellant's brief it is stated that "it was stipulated (Ab. 11) that the American Equitable As-

insurance Company paid to plaintiff under a collision coverage policy, the amount of his loss under the policy." The so-called stipulation which was little more than an argument is found at pages 35-38 of the record. Mr. Stewart stated that the amount paid by American Equitable Assurance Company to Mr. Romney "is substantially less than the amount we have stipulated should be recovered in the event there is a recovery." Plaintiff objected to the materiality of the proposed stipulation and the court never ruled on the objection, and plaintiff did not stipulate that the insurance company had paid anything to Mr. Romney.

But assuming that the insurance company had paid a portion of plaintiff's loss, there is no error in the judgment for plaintiff. It must be observed that the American Equitable Assurance Company is a party defendant in the action. It was served with an order of the court requiring it to "appear and set forth its rights and claims, if any, against defendant Covey Garage." It did not file any pleading or assert any claim. It is, therefore, idle to review the cases or discuss the question of whether or not it is a necessary party.

And when the insurance company is made a party to the action it is obviously not prejudicial to the defendant Covey Garage that it asserts no claim against that defendant.

Such is the doctrine clearly stated in *Potomac Insurance Co. v. Nickson*, 64 U. 395, 231 Pac. 445, where the court said:

“Plaintiff was liable to Wallace, and paid the loss and damage he sustained by reason of the defendant’s breach of duty, that is, by reason of his wrongful delivery of the car to Weibers. Nor is it controlling that the plaintiff was liable only in case of theft and not for misdelivery. That was the effect of the contract as between the plaintiff and Wallace. With that the defendant is not concerned except that he has a right to be protected against paying the loss to more than one claimant. As to that he is fully protected both by the proof of the assignment by Wallace to the plaintiff and also by the fact that plaintiff paid the loss to Wallace and was subrogated to his rights as against the defendant.”

With the relationship between Romney and the insurance company the Covey Garage is “not concerned” and the judgment protects it against “paying the loss to more than one claimant.”

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY OVERRULED DEFENDANT’S OBJECTIONS TO THE TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESS SQUIRES THAT HIS CAR HAD BEEN STOLEN FROM THE COVEY GARAGE ON FEBRUARY 26, 1938.

The testimony of Mr. Squires was admissible to show notice to defendant that on a Saturday night about two months prior to the theft of the Romney car, the Squires car had been stolen from the garage. Whether or not the prior theft had resulted from negligence was

not in issue in this case and the prior theft was notice regardless of whether or not it was negligently permitted by the bailee. *Hurd v. U. P. Ry. Co.*, 8 Utah 241, 30 Pac. 982, is cited by appellant.

This court clearly illustrates the distinction here involved when it stated:

“We think the ruling of the district court was correct, and was not in conflict with the case of *District of Columbia v. Armes*, 107 U. S. 524, 2 Sup. Ct. Rep. 840, as contended by counsel for appellant. That was a case to recover damages for injuries from a fall, caused by a defective sidewalk in the city of Washington. The sidewalk had been left in an unguarded and dangerous condition, and the court held that plaintiff might show that while it was in that condition other like accidents had occurred at the same place, for the reason that it tended to show the dangerous character of the place; and that, from the publicity necessarily given such accidents, it tended also to show that the city authorities had notice of the dangerous character of the locality. If testimony, however, had been offered that other people had fallen on other sidewalks in the city, we think the court would not have held it admissible.”

The Supreme Court of California, in *McCormick v. Great Western Power Co.*, 8 P. (2d) 145, stated the rule as follows:

“Furthermore, it is held in this state that, for the purpose of proving that one who maintains a dangerous instrumentality might

reasonably anticipate that persons engaged in lawful occupations, in places where they have a legal right to be, are likely to be injured thereby, evidence of previous accidents similar in character to the one in question, and not too remote therefrom in place or point of time, is admissible. *Long v. John Breuner Co.*, 36 Cal. App. 630, 172 P. 1132, 1136; *Gorman v. County of Sacramento*, 92 Cal. App. 656, 268 P. 1083, 1087; *Dyas v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 140 Cal. 296, 73 P. 972. In the *Long Case*, in holding that evidence of similar accidents was admissible, the court said: 'We think the evidence was admissible upon the general proposition that testimony of previous accidents similar to the one in question not only tends to show the dangerous character of the place, but, where the previous accidents have occurred under substantially the same general circumstances of the subsequent accident, tends to disclose the cause of the latter, and, furthermore, tends to bring home to the person maintaining the place where the injury occurred knowledge of the dangerous condition of such place.' And in the *Gorman Case* the following language was used: 'Appellant next contends that the court erred in permitting respondent to introduce evidence that other accidents had occurred at this bridge; that is, that at least four automobiles had fallen off of this bridge into the canal prior to the time the boy was drowned. We think the evidence was properly admitted as tending to show the dangerous character of the bridge and the cause of the boy's death, and furthermore, it tends to bring home to appellant knowledge of the dangerous condition of said bridge.' "

And in *Sargent v. Union Fuel Co.*, 37 Utah 392, 108 P. 928, the Supreme Court of Utah said:

“Over defendant’s objections, plaintiff was permitted to show that rock and earth had fallen from the roof of the tunnel at different times prior to the accident, and at places other than the place of the accident. We see no error in these rulings. Such evidence was admissible as tending to show the character of the ground, the necessity of timbering or otherwise supporting the roof, and notice to the defendant of the defective and dangerous conditions.”

Osplind v. Pearce, 221 N. W. 679 and *Manson v. Mays Department Stores Co.*, 71 S. W. (2d) 1081, announce the same rule. The question involved is answered in the cases by an appeal to common sense. Does the proof of the prior occurrence tend to show or support an inference that the defendant was negligent on the occasion in question. We believe that if the evidence showed that a car was stolen from defendant’s garage every Saturday night for two months that even the defendant would admit it was not exercising due care. The illustration differs from the facts here only in degree which goes to the weight and not the admissibility.

Under its assignment of error No. 6 appellant argues that an agent has no authority, after an event or transaction has occurred to make admissions on behalf of his principal, and that the testimony of Mr. Squires as to the prior theft was therefore hearsay and inadmissible.

Mr. Squires testified that he parked his car on Saturday night and when he called for his car and presented his check on Sunday morning the attendant did not deliver the car. The man in charge at the garage "took me all through the garage in an effort to locate my car and then he told me I couldn't claim it." The attendant and the manager told Mr. Squires the car had been driven out the night before about 11:50 and that it had not been located; that they didn't know where it was; that they had reported it to the Police Department of Salt Lake City.

When it is remembered that this testimony was offered only for the purpose of showing notice of the prior theft and not for the purpose of showing any negligence upon the prior occasion it is apparent that the statements of the attendant and manager were not hearsay. The statements were not offered for the purpose of proving the truth of their content, which was not in issue in this case. The mere fact of their statements, together with the undisputed testimony of Squires that he and the attendant went all through the garage in a fruitless effort to find his car, proves the defendant knew of the fact that the Squires car was taken out of the garage without the claim check being delivered. Perhaps the statements of the attendants add nothing to the facts observed and testified to by Squires that his car was not in the garage when he called for it and if so its admission was harmless, even if the case had been tried by a jury.

The situation is very similar to that before this court in the recent case of *Golden v. American Keene Cement & Plaster Co.*, 95 P. (2d) 755. With respect to the admissibility of certain letters not signed by or on behalf of the party against whom they were offered the court said (Mr. Justice Pratt):

“They were not hearsay as they were not offered as proof of their content, but were offered as proof of a course of conduct indicative of an intention to supervise the acts of the Cement Company.”

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